## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI, AT JACKSON

DAVID SCOGGINS,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

VS.

APPEAL NO. 2006-CA-02004

BAPTIST MEMORIAL HOSPITAL DESOTO,

Defendant/Appellee.

PLAINTIFF'S APPEAL AGAINST THE ORDER IN CIVIL NO. CV2006-0005CD DATED 10/26/2006 PASSED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DESOTO COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, FOR THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT AT HERNANDO, GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE DEFENDANT, BAPTIST MEMORIAL HOSPITAL DESOTO

#### **APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

THE LAW OFFICE OF JOHN MICHAEL BAILEY

JOHN MICHAEL BAILEY, Esq. (MBN Attorney for Appellant 5978 Knight Arnold, Ste. 400 Memphis, Tennessee 38115 (901)529-1010 Telephone (901)529-1017 Facsimile

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Learned Trial Judge erred in granting the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment in that there were questions of material fact presented?
- 2. Whether the Learned Trial Judge erred in granting the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment in that the Plaintiff had alleged negligence in the maintenance of the electrical system of the hospital would clearly not arise out of the course of medical surgical or other professional services?
- 3. Whether the Learned Trial Judge erred in granting the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment in holding that a certificate of consultation and/or expert testimony was necessary?
- 4. Whether the Learned Trial Judge erred in granting the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment in holding that the Plaintiff had not carried his burden regarding the certificate of Res Ipsa Loquitur?
- 5. Whether the Learned Trial Judge erred in granting the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment when the Plaintiff had Motions pending but unheard regarding the matters ultimately ruled upon by the Learned Trial Judge?

- 6. Whether the Learned Trial Judge erred in granting the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment when the Plaintiff had pending Discovery, which was timely under the Agreed Scheduling Order entered in the cause?
- 7. Whether the Learned Trial Judge erred in granting the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment in holding that the Requests for Admissions were deemed admitted?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 26, 2006, the Learned Trial Judge of the Circuit Court, DeSoto County, Mississippi, heard the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and held that Plaintiff/Appellant did not respond to the requests for admissions on time and did not ask for the admissions to be withdrawn, hence, matters were conclusively established and Motion, by law, was granted pursuant to MISS. CODE ANN 11-1-58(1)(b). By holding that the case of the Appellant was a medical malpractice claim, the court held that the Appellant failed to present expert testimony to rebut the Motion and the appellant had not set forth proof of the elements of res ipsa loquitur.

#### STATEMENT OF CAUSE OF ACTION

The cause of action arose in tort as a result of injuries the Plaintiff/Appellant sustained when as a patient undergoing a routine Colonoscopy at Baptist DeSoto, the cauterizing machine malfunctioned, tearing a hole in the colon and abdominal wall of the Appellant, known as an intestinal perforation, causing extremely grievous and permanent injury.

#### STATEMENTS OF THE FACTS

That on or about June 22, 2004, Appellant checked in to Baptist DeSoto, for a scheduled medical procedure known as a Colonoscopy, to have polyps removed from the surface of the colon. That Appellant was prepared for surgery, and in the course of this preparation, he was placed on surgical table and was rendered unconscious by general

anesthesia. During the procedure, the attending surgeon was using a cauterizing machine to "burn" polyps from the surface of the Appellant's colon. The attending surgeon, according to written medical narratives, asked the nurse to adjust this machine, at which time, the machine created a jolt of electricity, comparable to a lightning strike, into the colon of the Appellant. The electric shock burned a hole into Appellant's colon, causing him to suffer a respiratory arrest and failure, erratic heart rates and an extended stay under intensive care on a ventilator for breathing support, and a feeding tube inserted into his stomach. In addition, the Appellant was required, as part of efforts to save his life, to undergo an additional surgical procedure to repair the perforated colon, leaving the appellant with a scar from his chest to his waist. The Appellant has also been left with a cognitive deficit, including memory loss, from which he may never fully recover.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Learned Trial Judge erred in holding that this matter was a medical malpractice case as opposed to a standard electrical negligence case. The Learned Trial Judge erred in granting the Motion for Summary Judgment when the Plaintiff had in fact raised issues of material fact. The Learned Trial Judge erred in ruling that the requests for admissions were irrevocably admitted. The Learned Trial Judge erred in granting the Motion for Summary Judgment when the period for discovery was open under the scheduling Order and the Plaintiff had several Motions pending.

#### **ARGUMENT**

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN THAT THERE WERE QUESTIONS OF MATERIAL FACT PRESENTED.

#### Standard of Review:

The appellate court conducts de novo review of Summary Judgments entered by lower courts to determine whether genuine issues of material fact exist. In doing so, the non-movant

is given the benefit of all reasonable inferences and interpretations, which the facts may support. See <u>Dennis v. Searle</u>, 457 So.2d 941, 944 (Miss.1984). If the appellate court finds that issues of material fact exist, or if the undisputed facts can support more than one interpretation, the appellate court can reverse the order. See <u>Clark v. St. Dominic-Jackson</u> <u>Memorial Hosp.</u>, 660 So.2d 970, (Miss.,1995.)

In conducting review of trial court's grant of a Motion for Summary Judgment, evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Party moving for Summary Judgment carries the burden of demonstrating that no genuine issue of material fact exists. See *Chisolm v. Mississippi Dept. of Transp.*, 942 So.2d 136, (Miss., 2006.)

The Supreme Court in <u>Hammond v. Grissom</u>, 470 So.2d 1049 (Miss., 1985) held that the trial court is required to give Plaintiff the benefit of all reasonable favorable inferences that may be drawn from the pleadings, and the same view of the evidence must be taken by the appellate court when the granting of directed verdict has been assigned as error on appeal.

#### **Summary Judgment Was Inappropriate:**

The Appellant while undergoing colonoscopy to have polyps removed from the surface of the colon sustained intestinal perforation due to the malfunction of a cauterizing machine, which created a sudden jolt of electricity. The Appellee and its surgical nurses were under a duty to use reasonable care under the circumstances to discover any condition or defect in or with equipment used for patient care and treatment that may have posed a danger to patients, to use reasonable care to maintain their equipment and electrical system and to warn patients of any dangerous condition on the premises, or with their equipment of which they were aware, or in the exercise of reasonable care, should have known existed, and posed a risk of harm, to take every precaution to ensure that all equipment used on the patients was in safe working order and train their nurses and technical staff to use the equipment properly.

The Learned Trial Judge erred in granting the Motion for Summary Judgment since the cause of the Appellant involved questions of material facts. The Appellant opposed the Motion for Summary Judgment in the matter by raising substantive factual issues to be

decided by the jury. The Motion for Summary Judgment moved by the Appellee was in error in terms of fact as well as in the application of law. The complaint and discovery answers were very clear that this is a standard negligence case and not a medical malpractice claim. When there was dispute about the "fact" whether this is a standard negligence or medical malpractice case, the same should not have been decided summarily. The Learned Trial Judge erred in its reasoning to hold that this a medical malpractice case.

It is undisputed that (1) the Appellant had been to Appellee Hospital for routine colonoscopy. (2) The Appellant suffered intestinal perforation while undergoing treatment under general anesthesia. (3) The Appellant was completely under the control of Appellee and its staff, and (4) the Appellee failed to explain why the Appellant sustained this injury, which ordinarily would not occur while doing the procedure of colonoscopy.

The Learned Trial Judge not only erred in finding that there was no genuine issue of material fact, but also erroneously held that the Appellant has to explain how he sustained an injury while undergoing treatment. The law is quite clear that where the thing or matter in controversy is shown to be under the management of the Appellee, or its agents, and where an accident in the ordinary course of events does not happen when business is properly conducted, the accident itself, if it happens, raises a presumption of negligence in the absence of any explanation. See <u>Sanders v. Smith</u>, 200 Miss. 551, 557, 27 So.2d 889, 891 (1946). The fault rests upon the Appellee, and it's machines and electrical system and supply, as the Appellant was under the exclusive control of the Baptist DeSoto, while sustaining the injury. See <u>Trustmark Nat. Bank v. Jeff Anderson Regional Medical Center</u>, 792 So.2d 267, (Miss.App., 2000.)

As well the issue of control of the machines and electrical system and supply is an issue of fact that should have been decided by the jury. See *Winters v. Wright*, 869 So.2d 357, (Miss.,2003.) Whether the inferences that the hospital was negligent should be drawn from the patient's testimony should be accepted or whether evidence of hospital should be believed, are questions for jury. See *General Benev. Ass'n v. Fowler*, 210 Miss. 578, 50 So.2d 137, (Miss. 1951.) It is self evident that an injury of this nature does not occur but for someone's negligence.

A fact is "material," for Summary Judgment purposes, if it tends to resolve any of the issues, properly raised by the parties. See <u>Moss v. Batesville Casket Co., Inc.</u>, 935 So.2d 393, (Miss., 2006.) All that is needed for a nonmoving party to survive a Motion for Summary Judgment is to demonstrate that a genuine issue of material fact exists. It need not prove all of the elements of its case. See <u>Flores v. Elmer</u>, 938 So.2d 824, (Miss., 2006.) In the case before this Honorable Court, the Appellant did raise issues of material fact. The evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the Motion has been made. Issues of fact sufficient to require denial of a Motion for Summary Judgment obviously are present where one party swears to one version of the matter in issue and another says the opposite. That is, the non-movant should be given the benefit of the doubt. See <u>Partin v. North Mississippi Medical Center, Inc.</u>, 929 So.2d 924, (Miss.App., 2005); <u>Austin v. Baptist Memorial Hospital-North Mississippi</u> 768 So.2d 929 (Miss.App., 2000).

The existence of a genuine issue of material fact will preclude Summary Judgment. Where material facts are disputed, or where different interpretations or inferences may be drawn from undisputed material facts, Summary Judgment is inappropriate. See *Rankin v. Clements Cadillac, Inc.*, 903 So.2d 749, (Miss.,2005). Summary Judgment is inappropriate where there are undisputed facts, which are susceptible to more than one interpretation. See *Johnson v. City of Cleveland*, 2003 WL 21232064, (Miss.,2003).

Motions for Summary Judgment are to be viewed with a skeptical eye, and if a trial court should err, it is better to err on the side of denying the Motion. If there is doubt as to whether or not a fact issue exists, it should be resolved in favor of the non-moving party. See *Wilkins v. Bloodsaw*, 850 So.2d 185, (Miss.App., 2003); *Burton v. Choctaw County*, 730 So.2d 1, (Miss., 1997).

In considering Motion for Summary Judgment, lower court must take as true those allegations, which are well pleaded; considering these and any defenses which have been raised. See <u>McFadden v. State</u>, 580 So.2d 1210, (Miss.,1991).

The facts of the following cases are similar to the case subjudice, wherein, the courts have held that genuine issue of material facts exist precluding the Motion for Summary Judgment. They are: (1) the question as to whether the patient suffered more physically and

incurred more expense from the failures of the nursing staff at a health center. See *Richardson v. Methodist Hosp. of Hattiesburg, Inc.*, 807 So.2d 1244, (Miss.,2002); (2) whether the school receptionist suffered electric shock due to school public address (PA) system or frayed electrical cord on fan precluded Summary Judgment for companies that manufactured, maintained, and repaired the PA system. See *Butler v. Upchurch Telecommunications & Alarms, Inc.*, 2006 WL 1320598, (Miss.App.,2006); (3) whether the medical center breached its duty to protect patient from exposure to diseases by negligently allowing or causing medically recognized instrument to come into physical contact with patient. See *South Central Regional Medical Center v. Pickering.*, 749 So.2d 95, (Miss.,1999); (4) whether the alleged failure of hospital's nursing staff to monitor patient's blood sugar level, even though there was standing order authorizing nurses to do so without order from physician. See *Erby v. North Mississippi Medical Center*, 654 So.2d 495, (Miss.,1995) and (5) whether physician's negligence proximately caused patient to suffer greater and more expensive treatment for infection of surgical wound. See *Drummond v. Buckley*, 627 So.2d 264. Miss., 1993.

- 2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN THAT THE PLAINTIFF HAD ALLEGED NEGLIGENCE IN THE MAINTENANCE OF THE ELECTRICAL SYSTEM OF THE HOSPITAL WOULD CLEARLY NOT ARISE OUT OF THE COURSE OF MEDICAL SURGICAL OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES.
- 3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN HOLDING THAT A CERTIFICATE OF CONSULTATION AND/OR EXPERT TESTIMONY WAS NECESSARY.

The Learned Trial Judge erred in holding that this a medical malpractice claim, and that hence, the certificate of expert consultation was necessary as provided under Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58. The findings of the Court that the Appellant failed to produce expert testimony to rebut the Motion are entirely misplaced and inapplicable in the facts of this case.

The case of the Appellant is that he underwent a colonoscopy procedure at the Appellee hospital attended by two nurses and a surgeon. In the surgical process, a cautery

machine was used. The surgeon instructed the nurses to move the machine. At that point of time it discharged an extremely high voltage of electricity. The Appellant was attached and in contact with the machine for the surgical process. As a result of which the Appellant suffered severe injuries, while he was unconscious in the operation theater. The cause of it was either the malfunctioning of the cautery machine or other electrical defect along with the negligent handling of the machine by the nurses. The events at the time of the Appellant's operation are detailed in the medical narrative. The Appellee Hospital and its nurses who were trained to operate the machine are squarely liable for the severe injuries suffered by the appellant, as they had a duty to ensure the safety of each patient in the premises. It is held in *Boydv. Lynch*, 493 So.2d 1315, (Miss., 1986) that "Hospital may be liable for injuries patient sustains either as result of hospital's own negligence, or as result of negligence of its health care personnel."

The Appellant has not averred in his complaint that he suffered injuries due to a lack of medical skill of the surgeon. The medicinal or surgical procedure involved in the treatment of the Appellant is not in issue in this case. The Appellant has not challenged any medical process, procedure or knowledge of any physician or surgeon. In fact, the surgeon operating upon the Plaintiff is not a party to the complaint. According to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58(1), the expert's certificate is required only when the case cannot be proved without expert testimony. If the negligence is in common man's understanding as matter of common sense and practical experience, the expert testimony is not necessary. See <u>Walker v. Skiwski</u>, 529 So.2d 184, (Miss.,1988); <u>Erby v. North Mississippi Medical Center</u>, 654 So.2d 495, (Miss.,1995). In medical malpractice cases, negligence may be established without expert testimony in case where negligence or want of skill is so obvious as to dispense with need for expert testimony. See <u>Duling v. Bluefield Sanitarium, Inc.</u>, 149 W.Va. 567, 142 S.E.2d 754, (W.Va. 1965.)

The cause of action in this case arises on account of the negligence of the Appellee in not maintaining it's electrical system or supply and its nurses in using a faulty machine, or a machine which had been wrongly or negligently calibrated. The proximate cause of the injuries suffered is self-evident. When the internal organs of the Appellant were exposed to

severe and uncontrolled electric shock, it is obvious that injuries to the organs will be the result.

The expert witness is required to provide aid and opinion with regard to complex technical issues, which would assist the court and the jury to understand and decide the issues involved, as the complexity and technicality may not be comprehensible by the layman. Testimony by expert witnesses are described in the Mississippi Rules of Evidence, Rule 702 which states that.

"If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testiffhereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise, if (1) the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, (2) the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and (3) the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case."

It is pertinent to mention that in this case, there is no issue involved which requires the expert opinion of a medical practitioner. In terms of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence, Rule 702 the expert witness qualify as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education. By his/her knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education the expert should be able to throw light on the issue in dispute in the form of opinion or otherwise. It is incomprehensible and impractical to call for an expert opinion on the issue of the Appellant suffering 'high voltage electric shock' in his internal organs. It is self evident that any 'high voltage electric shock' more so, in the sensitive internal organs of a surgical patient, will result in injury and proper standard of care demands that patient does not suffer uncontrolled high voltage electric shock while undergoing surgery. The case of the Appellant does not involve any complex question of medical science or procedure, which warrants the opinion of any expert. This is a standard negligence case and it rests on a cause of action, which a layman can appreciate without any formal training in medical or other sciences.

It was decided by the Supreme Court in <u>Hammond v. Grissom</u>, 470 So.2d 1049 (Miss.,1985) that, "matters which are within the common knowledge of laymen are exceptions to the rule that expert medical testimony is required in medical malpractice case." Also see <u>Austin v. Baptist Memorial Hospital-North Mississippi</u>, 768 So.2d 929 (Miss.App.,2000).

In this case there is no claim for negligent performance of complex or complicated

diagnostics or surgical procedures. It is a clear and unambiguous issue of a patient suffering electric shock in the operation theater due to malfunction of a machine or the electric equipment or electrical system or supply. So, this case issue is squarely on point with the matter of *Hammond v. Grissom*, 470 So.2d 1049 (Miss., 1985). In the circumstances of that case the court held that,

"Plaintiffs' testimony, although largely non expert, along with medical records, and other evidence, were sufficient to carry medical malpractice case to the jury on issues of whether Defendants became aware, or in the exercise of ordinary care should have become aware, of the fact that patient had serious head injury and whether Defendants administered no meaningful treatment".

It has been recently decided by the Court of Appeals of Mississippi in <u>Smith v.</u> <u>Gilmore Memorial Hosp.</u> 2006 WL 1390554 (Miss.App.,2006) that,

"expert testimony is not required in a medical malpractice action where the facts surrounding the alleged negligence are easily comprehensible to a jury". In the case the Court held that, "eye surgery patient, a minor, was not required topresent expert testimony, in opposition to hospital's Motion for summary judgment, that hospital breached its duty of care in failing to inform patient's mother that physician made surgical incision on wrong eye, since jury's determination of whether hospital breached duty required no special knowledge, but was merely factual in nature."

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