IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DAVID SCOGGINS

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2006-ca-02004

BAPTIST MEMORIAL HOSPITAL-DeSOTO and RANDY KING

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEES, BAPTIST MEMORIAL HOSPITAL-DESOTO, INC. AND RANDY KING

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

DUNBAR DAVIS, PLLC Walter Alan Davis, MSB 324 Jackson Avenue East Oxford, MS 38655 (662) 281-0001

Attorneys for the Appellees, Baptist Memorial Hospital-DeSoto, Inc. and Randy King

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DAVID SCOGGINS

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2006-ca-02004

BAPTIST MEMORIAL HOSPITAL-DeSOTO and RANDY KING

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

This case involves questions of settled Mississippi law on the requirements of

medical malpractice claims as well as the entry of summary judgment under Miss. R. Civ.

P. 56. Oral argument is not warranted in this case.

II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- ISSUES: Whether the Trial Court properly granted summary judgment as to all claims asserted against Randy King as administrator of BMH-DeSoto, as he owes no independent, individual duty of care to Mr. Scoggins
- ISSUES: Whether the trial Court properly granted summary judgment because Scoggins failed to properly submit an appropriate certificate in compliance with Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58(1)
- ISSUE: Whether the trial Court properly granted summary judgment in light of the Plaintiff's failure to respond to relevant Requests for Admissions, which went to the heart of the Plaintiff's claims.
- ISSUE: Whether the trial Court properly granted summary judgment because of Scoggins' failure to support any claim with appropriate expert testimony.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This case involves allegations of medical negligence surrounding the use of a

cautery machine during a surgical procedure at BMH-DeSoto in Southaven, Mississippi.

On or about June 22, 2004, gastroenterologist Dr. Geza Remak¹ operated on Mr. Scoggins

¹Mr. Scoggins did not name Dr. Remak as a Defendant in this case nor did he allege any wrongdoing on the doctor's part in his pleadings.

and utilized that cautery machine to remove colon polyps. During the course of surgery, Dr. Remak stopped the procedure after two separate "uncontrolled power bursts" occurred.

Consequently, Mr. Scoggins filed suit against BMH-DeSoto and its administrator, Randy King. According to Mr. Scoggins, he suffered serious injury as a result of these "uncontrolled power bursts." As detailed more fully below, Mr. Scoggins made allegations in this case that both BMH-DeSoto and Randy King² were negligent for at least three alternative reasons: 1) alleged failures to properly maintain and calibrate the cautery machine; 2) alleged failures to properly operate the cautery machine; and 3) alleged failures to properly maintain the hospital's overall electrical system.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN COURT BELOW

David Scoggins instituted this action with the filing of his Complaint with the DeSoto County Circuit Court on January 11, 2006. (R. 7). In that Complaint, Scoggins alleged that while "undergoing a routine colonoscopy at Baptist DeSoto, the cauterizing machine malfunctioned" and injured Mr. Scoggins. (R. 8). More particularly, the Complaint alleges that "the attending surgeon . . . asked the nurse to adjust this machine, at which time, the machine created a jolt of electricity" which injured Mr. Scoggins. (R. 9). The Complaint further goes on to make claims against BMH-DeSoto³ for ostensibly failing to properly calibrate and

²Other than the fact he happens to be the hospital administrator at BMH-DeSoto at the time, Mr. King has no factual involvement with this matter whatsoever.

³Allegations of negligence were also levied against Mr. Randy King, BMH-DeSoto's hospital administrator. Mr. King was alleged to have been negligent for failing to ensure that "each and every piece of medical or surgical equipment on the premises of Baptist DeSoto is in

maintain the machine as well as against for the supposed failure of nursing staff to properly operate the machine. (R. 10-11). However, Scoggins also made an alternative allegation that the "electric current" injuring Mr. Scoggins "was caused by the cautery machine *or by an electrical malfunction in the outlet or electrical system of the hospital itself*." (R. 11) (emphasis added). In light of this alternative allegation, the Complaint then makes a claim for not properly maintaining the hospital's overall electrical system. (R. 12).

The Complaint did not, however, include any certificate pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58 that the case had been reviewed by a medical expert who had concluded there was a reasonable basis for the claims asserted in the Complaint. (R. 7-13).

BMH-DeSoto and Mr. King filed their answers to the Complaint and discovery ensued. (R. 14-27). On February 13, 2006, BMH-DeSoto and Mr. King propounded written discovery upon Mr. Scoggins, including an interrogatory requesting the identification of any expert witnesses as well as a number of Requests for Admission. (R. 40-43).

After having received no response to any of its discovery requests for over four months, BMH-DeSoto and Randy King moved for the entry of summary judgment based upon: 1) Scoggins' failure to submit a certificate of expert consultation pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58; 2) Scoggins' failure to timely respond to the propounded

safe working order." (R. 11).

Requests for Admission, thereby conclusively establishing those matters; and 3) Scoggins' inability to come forward with sufficient expert testimony to support his claims. (R. 28).

On July 13, 2006, more than six months after discovery was propounded, Scoggins responded to the outstanding discovery requests and also made other submissions to the Court, including a response to the pending motion for summary judgment. (R. 44-54; 88).

On October 3, 2006, DeSoto County Circuit Judge Robert Chamberlin conducted a hearing on the pending motion for summary judgment. After hearing arguments of counsel, Judge Chamberlin granted the motion for summary judgment by order and opinion signed on October 26, 2006 and entered by the Clerk on October 30, 2006. (R. 166-74). Scoggins then filed his "Notice of Appeal" with respect to that order on November 20, 2006 and this appeal followed. (R. 175).

C. Statement of Facts Relevant To the Issues Presented for Review

The record in this matter is devoid of any factual testimony or evidence in support of the Plaintiff's claims, as Scoggins failed to submit any factual proof in response to the dispositive motions filed below. However, as Scoggins failed to timely respond to BMH-DeSoto's Requests for Admission, the following facts and matters are conclusively established in this case:

4

- Scoggins had no proof to support the allegations of any negligence on the part of the nurses, servants, or employees of the defendant BMH-D at the time of the subject incident.
- Scoggins' attorneys obtained a copy of the medical records relevant to his allegations and reviewed them before filing this civil action.
- Scoggins' attorneys provided a copy of his medical records to a medical expert who reviewed them and consulted with his attorneys before they filed this civil action.
- No nurse, employee, or agent of BMH-D violated the applicable standard of care while providing care and treatment to plaintiff during his June 22, 2004 admission to BMH-D.
- No failure to meet the applicable standard of care on the part of any BMH-D nurse, employee, or agent proximately caused the injuries alleged by plaintiff in his complaint.
- Scoggins had no qualified expert witness who will testify at trial that any nurse, employee, or agent of BMH-D violated the applicable standard of care while providing care and treatment to Scoggins during his June 22, 2004 admission to BMH-D.
- Scoggins had no qualified expert witness who would testify at trial that a failure to meet the applicable standard of care on the part of any BMH-D nurse, employee, or agent proximately caused the injuries alleged by Scoggins in his complaint.
- Scoggins had no proof to offer of the alleged negligence of Randy King.

(R. 40-43).

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This matter rests before this Court on appeal from the Trial Court's grant of a

motion for judgment as a matter of law in favor of the Defendants. As such, this Court's

review of this matter is de novo. See, e.g., Lawrence v. Lawrence, 2006 WL 2474029, *2

(Miss. App. 2006) ("This Court employs a *de novo* standard of review of a lower court's grant or denial of summary judgment and examines all the evidentiary matters before it-admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc..") <u>McMillan v. Rodriguez</u>, 823 So. 2d 1173, 1176-77(¶¶ 9) (Miss. 2002). This Court is fully familiar with the typical recitation of governing standards for summary judgment motions;

Summary judgment may be appropriately entered by a trial court "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." All that is required of a nonmoving party to survive a motion for summary judgment is to establish a genuine issue of material fact by the means available under . . . Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c).

<u>Robinson v. Ratliff</u>, 757 So. 2d 1098, ¶ 8 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).

Stated another way, "th[e] standard [for granting summary judgment] mirrors

the standard for a directed verdict " Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242,

250, 106 S.Ct. 2505, 2511, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986) (emphasis added); Celotex Corp. v.

Catrett 477 U.S. 317, 323, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 2552 - 2553 (1986). The relevant standards

track the relative burdens of proof at trial:

As to issues on which the nonmovant bears the burden of proof at trial, the movant needs only to demonstrate an absence of evidence in the record to support an essential element of the movant's claim.

Pride Oil Co., Inc. v. Tommy Brooks Oil Co. 761 So. 2d 187, 191 (Miss. 2000) (Crain v.

Cleveland Lodge 1532, Order of Moose, Inc., 641 So. 2d 1186, 1188 (Miss.1994)); see

also Grisham v. John Q. Long V.F.W. Post, No. 4057, Inc., 519 So. 2d 413, 416

(Miss.1988); Galloway et al. v. The Travelers Insurance Co., et al., 515 So. 2d 678

(Miss.1987). Again, Mississippi's standards mirror those under the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure.

we find no express or implied requirement in Rule 56 that the moving party support its motion with affidavits or other similar materials *negating* the opponent's claim. On the contrary, Rule 56(c), which refers to "the affidavits, *if any*" (emphasis added), suggests the absence of such a requirement. And if there were any doubt about the meaning of Rule 56(c) in this regard, such doubt is clearly removed by Rules 56(a) and (b), which provide that claimants and defendants, respectively, may move for summary judgment "with or without supporting affidavits" (emphasis added). The import of these subsections is that, regardless of whether the moving party accompanies its summary judgment motion with affidavits, the motion may, and should, be granted so long as whatever is before the district court demonstrates that the standard for the entry of summary judgment, as set forth in Rule 56(c), is satisfied.

Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 2553 (1986). The

Mississippi Supreme Court has discussed this fact in some detail:

We have stated the party moving for summary judgment has the job of *persuading* the court, first, that there is no genuine issue of material fact and, second, that on the basis of the facts established, he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Fruchter v. Lynch Oil Co.*, 522 So. 2d 195, 198 (Miss.1988) (emphasis added). *The movant carries a burden of persuasion, not a burden of proof.* Id. "The movant has the burden of production only where at trial the movant would have the burden of proof." Id. (emphasis added) Claude L. Stuart, III observes in his law journal article that if *Fruchter* is read literally, the moving party bears no burden of production on issues which the non-moving party will bear the burden of proof at trial. Claude L. Stuart, III, *Summary Judgment: A Trial Practitioner's Guide to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 56*, 59 Miss. L.J. 284, 300 (1989). Stuart additionally points to this Court's decision in *Tucker v. Hinds County*, 558 So. 2d 869 (Miss.1990) where we said the moving party has the burden of "demonstrating" that no genuine issue of material fact exists. *Id.* at 872. Thus, the question becomes, what the movant must do to sufficiently "demonstrate" no

genuine fact issue exists when he does not bear the burden of proof at trial. According to Stuart:

Under Celotex [Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986)], as adopted by the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Fruchter* and other cases, the movant has no duty to provide an evidentiary predicate to negate the existence of a material fact as to those issues on which he does not bear the burden of proof at trial. Rather, as to issues where the movant does not bear the burden of proof at trial, he must initially only make a sufficient "informing," "pointing out," or "showing" that there is an absence of evidence to support the non-movant's case.

59 Miss. L.J. at 303.

Even more recently, we stated that "once a party *files* a motion for summary judgment, the party opposing the motion "may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleadings, but his response, by affidavit or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." *MST Inc. v. Mississippi Chem. Corp.*, 610 So. 2d 299, 304 (Miss.1992) (emphasis added).

The Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure are patterned after the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and we have looked to the federal interpretations of our state counterparts as persuasive authority. See Owens v. Thomae, 759 So. 2d 1117,1121 n. 2 (Miss.1999); Ouinn v. Mississippi State Univ., 720 So. 2d 843, 846 (Miss. 1998); Brown v. Credit Ctr., Inc., 444 So. 2d 358, 364 n. 1 (Miss.1983). The few federal interpretations to pass on this question regarding Federal Rule 56 hold that a motion for summary judgment may be based on the pleadings alone. See 10A Charles Allen Wright & Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice & Procedure §§ 2713 (3d ed.1998) ("a summary-judgment motion may be made on the basis of the pleadings alone"); McWhirter Distrib. Co. v. Texaco Inc., 668 F.2d 511, 519 n. 11 (Temp. Emer. Ct. App.1981) ("Even though the typical role of summary judgment is to go beyond the pleadings to consider matters provided by affidavit, deposition, and other extra-pleading materials, summary judgment may be based solely on the pleadings"). See also Chambers v. United States, 357 F.2d 224 (8th Cir.1966); Reynolds v. Needle, 132 F.2d 161 (D.C. Cir.1942).

Hartford Cas. Ins. Co. v. Halliburton Co. 826 So. 2d 1206, 1215 (Miss. 2001).

Further, this Court should affirm the trial Court's decision on any appropriate ground *regardless* of whether those grounds were analyzed by the trial Court Judge or referenced in the trial Judge's decision.

This Court will generally affirm, even if it finds that the lower court has employed erroneous legal reasoning, provided only that the correct result has been achieved below. . . . If this be so, the Court certainly must affirm where there is any ground disclosed by the record upon which the decision could have properly been reached, notwithstanding the lower court did not make explicit its grounds.

DeFoe v. Great Southern Nat. Bank, N.A. 547 So. 2d 786, 788 -789 (Miss. 1989) (citations omitted; emphasis added).

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Judge Chamberlin did not err in granting judgment as a matter of law in favor of BMH-DeSoto. As an initial matter, the mere fact that Randy King was hospital administrator at the time does not render him individually liable for any supposed shortcoming of equipment or facilities within the hospital itself. There were no allegations that Mr. King had any personal involvement with Mr. Scoggins' treatment or the regular care and maintenance of either the cautery machine or the building's electrical system. As such, Mr. King owed no individual legal duty to Mr. Scoggins and any claim against Mr. King is indistinct from his claims against the hospital itself. Further, all of Scoggins' claims were properly dismissed because he: 1) failed to timely file a certificate in compliance with Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58; 2) failed to respond to timely respond to Requests for Admission and were therefore bound by those matters which were deemed admitted; and 3) failed to come forward with any admissible expert testimony in support of his claims.

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